73798-8

FILED
May 12, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 73798-8-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MARGARET COLSON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

The law of the case doctrine requires the State to prove all the requirements in a "to-convict" instruction. Under the "to-convict" instructions for identity theft in this case, the State was required to prove that the offenses occurred on or about a particular date or during a particular date range. The State was also required to prove the defendant committed the first element of identity theft as a principle rather than as an accomplice. Because the State failed to prove that the first two counts of identity theft were committed on the requisite date and failed to prove that the defendant herself committed the first element of the identity theft on the remaining seven counts, all the convictions for identity theft should be reversed. The conviction for possession of stolen mail should also be reversed because the State failed to prove that the defendant "disposed of" stolen mail, a distinct alternative under the "to-convict" instruction.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Under the law of the case doctrine and in violation of due process as guaranteed by article I, § 3 of the Washington Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, sufficient evidence does not support the convictions for identity theft (counts 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10).

- 2. Under the law of the case doctrine and in violation of the defendant's right to a unanimous verdict, the jury was not instructed it had to be unanimous on the alternative means of committing possession of a stolen mail (count 4), and sufficient evidence does not support one of the means.
- 3. Without a requirement that it must find the defendant had the requisite knowledge, the jury erroneously found the defendant had committed "major economic offenses" as to counts 5 through 10.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The State must prove all requirements in a "to-convict" instruction, including the date of the crime. Counts 1 and 2 required proof that the crimes were committed on or about February 16, 2012. The State proved that these two counts were perpetrated not on or about this date, but a couple of weeks earlier. Should these two counts be reversed for insufficient proof?
- 2. To prove identity theft, the State must prove that the identifying information belongs to a real person. On count 2, the State did not bring to court the person to whom the identifying information was purported to belong. The State only produced evidence of a check with the person's name. Should count 2 be reversed for insufficient proof?

- 3. When the jury is not properly instructed on accomplice liability, the State may assume the burden of proving principal liability. The fourth element in the "to-convict" instruction for count 7 used the language "the defendant or an accomplice." This language was not used in any of the other elements of this instruction or in any of the other "to-convict" instructions. Instead, they used the language, "the defendant." Excluding element 4 of count 7, did the State assume the burden of proving that "the defendant" committed the elements of the offenses as a principal rather than as an accomplice? Should counts 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10 be reversed because the State failed to prove that the defendant committed these counts as a principal?
- 4. Stolen mail was found in a vehicle driven by the defendant. In the "to-convict" instruction on possession of stolen mail, the State was required to prove the defendant "knowingly received, retained, possessed, concealed, or disposed of" stolen mail. When required by a "to-convict" instruction, these five various ways of committing the offense must be supported by sufficient evidence in order to uphold the verdict. Should this conviction be reversed because there was insufficient evidence that the defendant "disposed of" stolen mail?
- 5. The "major economic offense" aggravating factor must be based on the defendant's own conduct. An aggravating factor cannot be

applied to an accomplice unless the accomplice's own conduct or knowledge of the principle's conduct informs the aggravating factor. The jury was not required to find the defendant had the requisite form of knowledge in determining counts 5 through 10 were major economic offenses. Should the language in the judgement and sentence that the jury found the "major economic offense" aggravator as to counts 5 through 10 be stricken?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In late 2011, Shawn Schulze and his boyfriend, Vikram Chopra, were homeless. 7/20/15RP 151-52, 157; 7/21/15RP 81, 83. The couple were drug users and had lost their jobs. 7/20/15RP 152, 159; 7/21/15RP 83, 128. To make money and further their drug habits, they would steal merchandise and sell it on the streets. 77/21/15RP 58-59, 79.

Mr. Schulze was friends with Margaret Colson, whom he had met sometime around 2010 or 2011. 7/21/15RP 54, 78. Ms. Colson and her husband invited Mr. Schulze and Mr. Chopra into their home shortly before Christmas 2012. 7/20/15RP 157; 7/21/15RP 83. The couple had been expelled from a hotel and had nowhere to go. 7/21/15RP 83. As Mr. Chopra testified, Ms. Colson and her husband "pretty much rescued us." 7/21/15RP 53. Mr. Chopra and Mr. Schulze lived with Ms. Colson for about five months. 7/20/15RP 158.

While living at Ms. Colson's home, the three did drugs together. 7/20/15RP 160; 7/21/15RP 82. To make money and further their drug habits, they committed financial crimes. 7/20/15RP 164; 7/21/15RP 80. To obtain people's financial information, they would drive around neighborhoods and steal people's mail. 7/20/15RP 165. The information was then used to commit crimes and make money. 7/20/15RP 167.

One method used to make money was to make orders over the phone at Nordstrom's using people's Nordstrom's account numbers acquired from the mail. 7/20/15RP 168-169. When making phone orders, the person making the call would be of the same gender as the account holder. 7/21/15RP 97. He or she would tell the person that someone else would be picking up the merchandise, such as "my nephew, Vic; or, my cousin, Shawn; or, my Aunt Margaret – or something like that." 7/20/15RP 169. After the merchandise was picked up, they would return the merchandise for cash. 7/20/15RP 170. Mr. Schulze's and Mr. Chopra's friend, Kelsey Petersen, participated in the scheme and lived at Ms. Colson's house for about a couple of weeks. 7/20/15RP 161-62; 7/21/15RP 60, 84, 131.

Besides having a male impersonate a male and a female impersonate a female, there was no coordination and no one was assigned

particular roles. 7/21/15RP 132. As Mr. Schulze testified, it was a "Free for all, chaos." 7/21/15RP 132.

On the morning of February 16, 2012, Mr. Schulze and Ms. Colson were out stealing mail. 7/21/15RP 78, 86. A resident in a Kirkland neighborhood saw them and called the police, providing the license plate number for the vehicle. 7/14/15RP 8-9, 14-15, 23. Shortly thereafter, police stopped the vehicle on the freeway. 7/14/15RP 33. Ms. Colson and Mr. Schulze were arrested. 7/14/15RP 43; 7/21/15RP 79. The vehicle, a Dodge Charger registered to Ms. Colson's husband, was impounded. 7/14/15RP 33, 57, 93.

Police obtained a search warrant for the vehicle. 7/14/15RP 69. Inside, police found mail, debit cards, credit cards, identification cards, and checks in the names of people other than Ms. Colson, Mr. Schulze, and Mr. Chopra. 7/14/15RP 70-91; Ex. 6-17.

On April 10, 2012, Mr. Schulze and Mr. Chopra were out picking up merchandise at a Nordstrom in Bellevue Square Mall that had been fraudulently ordered on the phone. 7/21/15RP 2, 91-92. A man named Melvin Eisenhower was with them. 7/21/15RP 162-63. They were using the Dodge Charger, which had been returned. 7/21/15RP 4. Security personal working in the parking garage became suspicious and called the police. 7/15/15RP 69-70, 83, 85. As the vehicle was leaving the parking

garage, police stopped the vehicle on suspicion of either theft or vehicle prowl. 7/15/15RP 11; 7/20/15RP 7-10. All three men were arrested. 7/15/15RP 26-27.

Mr. Chopra spoke to the police and gave incriminating statements. 7/21/15RP 11. In an effort to protect himself and his boyfriend, Mr. Chopra did not take full responsibility for his actions and implicated primary responsibility to Ms. Colson. 7/21/15RP 11, 57-58. Mr. Schulze also spoke to the police and gave incriminating statements. 7/21/15RP 96.

Mr. Schulze and Mr. Chopra moved out of Ms. Colson's home around early to mid-May 2012. 7/20/15RP 158. The departure was not amicable. 7/21/15RP 41, 121-22. Mr. Chopra and Mr. Schulze continued to commit financial crimes afterward, leading to their incarceration. 7/20/15RP 144; 7/21/15RP 42, 73-74.

The State ultimately charged Ms. Colson with eight counts of identity theft in the second degree (counts 1-3, 5-6, 8-10), one count of identity theft in the first degree (count 7), and one count of possession of stolen mail (count 4). CP 29-33.¹ The State alleged that counts 5 through 10 were "major economic offenses." CP 31-33. The case went to trial in

¹ The State also charged Ms. Colson with one count of bail jumping (count 11). CP 33. This charge was severed and dismissed without prejudice after trial on the other charges. CP 76; 7/9/15RP 10; 7/29/15RP 16.

July 2015. Mr. Chopra and Mr. Schulze were ordered to testify. 7/20/15RP 141, 144; 7/21/15RP 70, 72. Recordings of two phone calls made by Ms. Colson while she was in jail, which tended to show she was culpable, were admitted. Ex. 25; 7/15/15RP 140-42. The jury convicted Ms. Colson as charged and found that counts 5 through 10 were "major economic offenses." 7/22/15RP 63-68. Ms. Colson appeals.

E. ARGUMENT

- 1. The State failed to prove that counts 1 and 2 of identity theft were perpetrated on or about February 16, 2012.
 - a. The State bears the burden of proving all the elements in a "to-convict" instruction beyond a reasonable doubt.

The State bears the burden proving all the elements of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 361, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); U.S. const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. Under the law of the case doctrine, jury instructions not objected to became the law of the case. <u>State v. Hickman</u>, 135 Wn.2d 97, 102, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). The State assumes the burden of proving all the elements in a "to-convict" instruction, including any added requirements. Id.

"The law of the case is an established doctrine with roots reaching back to the earliest days of statehood." <u>Id.</u> at 101. Hence, in the late 19th

century, the Washington Supreme Court held "whether the instruction in question was rightfully or wrongfully given, it was binding and conclusive upon the jury, and constitutes upon this hearing the law of the case. . . ."

Pepperall v. City Park Transit Co., 15 Wash. 176, 180, 45 P. 743, 46 P.

407 (1896). The doctrine finds special support in the Washington

Constitution, which provides that judges "shall declare the law." Const. art. I, § 16; see id. at 185 (discussing provision in connection with the doctrine).

When reviewing whether the State has met its burden to prove a requirement in a to-convict instruction, the court uses the familiar sufficiency of the evidence standard. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d at 103. The court inquires whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found the requirements beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. While inferences are drawn in the State's favor, these inferences must be reasonable and cannot be based on speculation or conjecture. State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d 1, 16, 309 P.3d 318 (2013).

b. The State bore the burden of proving that Ms. Colson committed counts 1 and 2 on or about February 16, 2012.

The State alleged that Ms. Colson committed three counts of identity theft in the second degree on or about February 16, 2012. CP 29-

30 (counts 1, 2 and 3). Each of the three charges had different alleged victims. CP 29-30.

Identity theft is a statutory offense and has two degrees:

- (1) No person may knowingly obtain, possess, use, or transfer a means of identification or financial information of another person, living or dead, with the intent to commit, or to aid or abet, any crime.
- (2) Violation of this section when the accused or an accomplice violates subsection (1) of this section and obtains credit, money, goods, services, or anything else of value in excess of one thousand five hundred dollars in value shall constitute identity theft in the first degree. Identity theft in the first degree is a class B felony punishable according to chapter 9A.20 RCW.
- (3) A person is guilty of identity theft in the second degree when he or she violates subsection (1) of this section under circumstances not amounting to identity theft in the first degree. Identity theft in the second degree is a class C felony punishable according to chapter 9A.20 RCW.

RCW 9.35.020.

Consistent with the information, the "to-convict" instructions on the first three counts required proof that Ms. Colson committed the offenses "on or about February 16, 2012." CP 114-16 (Instructions 10-12). Excluding the named victims and the count number, the instructions were identical. CP 114-16. The first instruction reads:

To convict the defendant of the crime of Identity Theft in the Second Degree, pertaining to Brett Stanewich, as charged in Count 1, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about February 16, 2012, the defendant knowingly obtained, possessed, transferred, or used a means of identification or financial information of another person, living or dead;
- (2) That the defendant acted with intent to commit or to aid or abet any crime;
- (3) That the defendant knew the means of identification or financial information belonged to another person; and
- (4) That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington.

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty as to Count 1.

On the other hand, if, after weighing all of the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty as to Count 1.

CP 114.

Under these instructions, the State bore the burden of proving that these offenses were committed on or about February 16, 2012.

See Hickman, 135 Wn.2d at 105 (venue, while not an element of the crime, became a requirement under the law of the case doctrine); State v.

Jensen, 125 Wn. App. 319, 326, 104 P.3d 717 (2005) (rejecting State's argument that the charging period need not be proved despite its presence in a to-convict instruction).

c. The evidence was insufficient to prove that count 1 was committed on or about February 16, 2012.

Count 1 concerned Brett Stanewich. CP 114. On February 16, 2012, the police stopped Ms. Colson and Mr. Schulze on a report of mail theft that morning. 7/14/15RP 14, 31, 33. The police arrested them and impounded the vehicle Ms. Colson had been driving. 7/14/15RP 42-43, 57. The police obtained a warrant to search the vehicle. 7/14/15RP 68-69. Under the front passenger seat was a small silver case. 7/14/15RP 80, 93; Ex. 12, p. 1. The case contained debit cards, identification cards, and checks. 7/14/15RP 80-84; Ex. 12, p. 2-24. Some of these cards and checks formed the bases for counts 1 through 3. Ex. 12, p. 1-2, 4-8. Mr. Chopra testified that he, Ms. Colson, and Mr. Schulze kept cards inside of the case and that it was kept in the house or in the vehicle they were driving. 7/21/15RP 37-38.

One of the checks and debit cards, both issued by Bank of America, bore the name of Brett Stanewich. 7/14/15RP 105-07; Ex. 12, p. 4, 8. Concerning the check, Mr. Chopra testified that he deposited it into an Ally bank account he had opened online under the name of Joe Eskridge. 7/21/15RP 30-32. The check was dated **February 5, 2012**. Ex. 12, p. 4. Bank records from Ally show that the check had been deposited electronically on **February 6, 2012**. Ex. 18. p. 4. As for the debit card,

Mr. Chopra testified that it had been used to make purchases, specifically iPads at Macy's, but the timeframe was not elicited. 7/21/15RP 31. Like the check, there was no evidence that it had been used on or about February 16, 2012.

Hence, while the State may have proved that identity theft was perpetrated using Mr. Stanewich's identity in early February 2012, the State did not prove that this occurred on or about **February 16, 2012**.

Any argument from the State that the offense continued to February 16, 2012 should be rejected. The legislature has instructed the unit of prosecution is per each act:

The legislature intends to penalize for each unlawful act of improperly obtaining, possessing, using, or transferring means of identification or financial information of an individual person. The unit of prosecution for identity theft by use of a means of identification or financial information is each individual unlawful use of any one person's means of identification or financial information. Unlawfully obtaining, possessing, or transferring each means of identification or financial information of any individual person, with the requisite intent, is a separate unit of prosecution for each victim and for each act of obtaining, possessing, or transferring of the individual person's means of identification or financial information.

RCW 9.35.001. This overruled the Supreme Court's interpretation of the statute, which had held that unit of prosecution was in terms of a particular victim. <u>State v. Leyda</u>, 157 Wn.2d 335, 345, 138 P.3d 610 (2006).

The State may also argue Ms. Colson committed the offense on February 16, 2012 because she was in possession of Mr. Stanewich's identifying information. However, mere possession of person's identifying information is insufficient to prove intent to commit a crime using that information. See Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d at 14-16. In Vasquez, our Supreme Court discussed the proof necessary to infer criminal intent in the context of a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence supporting a forgery conviction. The court held that the defendant's possession of forged identification cards, together with his statement to a security guard that the cards were his and evidence that the defendant held a job, was insufficient to support the necessary inference of intent to injure or defraud. Id. at 14-18. Similarly, there was no evidence indicating that Ms. Colson, Mr. Chopra, or Mr. Schulze intended to use Mr. Stanewich's identifying information on or about February 16, 2012.

Count 1 should be reversed and dismissed.

d. The evidence was insufficient to prove that count 2 was committed on or about February 16, 2012.

Count 2 concerned "Rafic Farah." CP 115. A check bearing the name of Rafic Farah was found inside the container in the vehicle. Ex. 12, p. 6-7. Mr. Chopra testified that he, Mr. Schulze, and Ms. Colson obtained this check in the mail they had taken. 7/21/15RP 34. The check

had been blank and Mr. Chopra wrote out the information on it and signed it. 7/21/15RP 35. It is dated **February 4, 2012** and written out to "Joe Eskridge" in the amount of \$500. Ex. 12, p. 6. It has a signature on the front and back. Ex. 12, p. 6-7. Like the other check, Mr. Chopra deposited the check electronically on **February 6, 2012** into the Ally bank account he had opened in the name of Joe Eskridge. 7/14/15RP 101; 7/21/15RP 34-35; Ex. 12, p. 6-7; Ex. 18, p. 4.

For the same reasons as argued previously, this evidence was inadequate to prove that the offense occurred on or about **February 16**, **2012**. Count 2 should be reversed and dismissed.

2. The State failed to prove the identifying information in count 2 belonged to a real person.

Additionally, count 2 should be reversed because the State did not prove that the identifying information belonged to a real person. To commit identity theft, the identifying information must belong to a specific, real person. State v. Berry, 129 Wn. App. 59, 62, 67, 117 P.3d 1162 (2005); State v. Hayes, 164 Wn. App. 459, 482, 262 P.3d 538 (2011). In count 2, the specific person identified was "Rafic Farah." CP 115 (Instruction 11). "Rafic Farah," however, did not testify at trial.

The only evidence offered at trial as to Rafic Farah's existence as a real person was a check. Ex. 12, p. 6. In the upper left hand corner, the check reads:

RAFIC FARAH GENIEVIEVE ATTIE 9190 NE 9TH ST. BELLEVUE, WA 98004-4841

Ex. 12, p. 6. The check number is 933. Ex. 12, p. 6. The check bears a Chase bank insignia. Ex. 12, p. 6.

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