73798-8

FILED
August 9, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

73798-8

NO. 73798-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MARGARET COLSON,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE LAURA INVEEN

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG
King County Prosecuting Attorney

ANN SUMMERS
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney
W554 King County Courthouse
516 3rd Avenue
Seattle, Washington 98104
(206) 477-9497

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE JURY'S VERDICTS ON COUNTS 1 AND 2.

Colson claims on appeal that the jury's verdicts on Counts 1 and 2 are not supported by the evidence because there was not sufficient evidence that those crimes were committed on the date charged: February 16, 2012. Colson argues that the evidence shows those crimes were actually committed prior to that date. Colson also argues that because Rafic Farah, the named victim in Count 2, did not testify there was insufficient evidence that he was a real person. These claims are without merit. The State need not prove the precise date of the crime, and there was sufficient circumstantial evidence that Farah was not a fictitious identity.

A person commits identity theft when she knowingly obtains, possesses, uses or transfers a means of identification or financial information of another person with the intent to commit a crime. RCW 9.35.020(1). Identity theft in the first degree occurs when the person uses the financial information to obtain money, goods or services in excess of \$1500 in value. RCW 9.35.020(2). When the person does not obtain more than \$1500 of money, goods or services, the crime is identity theft in the second degree. RCW 9.35.030(3). The statute, like burglary, requires proof of intent to commit any crime, and does not require proof of intent to commit a particular crime. State v. Fedorov, 181 Wn. App. 187, 197-98, 324 P.3d 784 (2014). The unit of prosecution is the possession of a single victim's means of identification or financial information with intent to commit a crime. State v. Fisher, 139 Wn. App. 578, 585, 161 P.3d 1054 (2007). Actual use of the means of identification or financial information is not required. State v. Sells, 166 Wn. App. 918, 924, 271 P.3d 952 (2012). The means of identification or financial information must belong to a real natural person or corporation, not a fictitious one. Id.; RCW 9A.04.110(17).

"A sufficiency challenge admits the truth of the State's evidence and accepts the reasonable inferences to be made from

it.” State v. O’Neal, 159 Wn.2d 500, 505, 150 P.3d 1121 (2007). Appellate courts will reverse a conviction “only where no rational trier of fact could find that all elements of the crime were proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” State v. Smith, 155 Wn.2d 496, 501, 120 P.3d 559 (2005).

Drawing all reasonable inferences in favor of the State there was substantial evidence that Colson used Stanewich’s and Farah’s financial information prior to February 16th and continued to possess that information on February 16th with the intent to commit further crimes. The debit card and checks were found in the small metal box that Chopra and Schulze testified was used to store fraudulent credit cards. RP 7/14/15 80-81; RP 7/21/15 37-39, 125-26. It is a reasonable inference from the evidence that on February 16, 2012, Colson possessed the checks and debit card in Stanewich and Farah’s name with the intent to commit further crimes with the financial information contained on those items.

Moreover, the date of the crime is not a material element of the crime. “[W]here time is not a material element of the charged crime, the language ‘on or about’ is sufficient to admit proof of the act at any time within the statute of limitations, so long as there is no defense of alibi.” State v. Hayes, 81 Wn. App. 425, 432, 914

P.2d 788 (1996). The information and instructions alleged that the crime occurred "on or about" February 16, 2012. CP 19-30. That language does not require the State to prove that the crime occurred precisely on February 16th. In United States v. Shea, 493 F.3d 1110, 1118 (9th Cir. 2007), the defendant claimed the evidence was insufficient to prove that he committed the offense on or about January 29th as alleged in the indictment where the evidence suggested the crime occurred on January 7th. The Ninth Circuit rejected his argument, stating "A variance typically is immaterial if the government has proven that the criminal act occurred on a date 'reasonably near' the date cited in the indictment." Id. In the present case, even assuming the only reasonable inference is that identity theft regarding Stanewich and Farah occurred in early February, that date was reasonably near the date charged.

Similarly, drawing all reasonable inferences in favor of the State there was sufficient evidence that Rafic Farah was a real person, although he did not testify at trial. Evidence can be direct or circumstantial and both can be considered equally reliable. State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). Chopra testified that they had stolen Farah's checks from a

mailbox, and then used one of the checks to make a deposit into the fraudulent account set up in Eskridge's name. RP 7/21/15 34. Schulze also testified that the check was successfully cashed and they were able to withdraw the funds from the account. RP 7/21/15 35-36. The fact that Farah's checks were stolen from the mail, and that the check was successfully used to obtain money, is circumstantial evidence that Farah was a real person and not a fictitious identity. The jury was free to draw the reasonable inference that Farah was a real person based on the circumstantial evidence presented.

2. THE STATE WAS NOT REQUIRED TO PROVE THAT COLSON ACTED ALONE IN COMMITTING THE CRIMES.

Colson argues that because the words "or an accomplice" were added to one element in the instructions for Count 7, the State undertook the burden of "proving principal liability" as to all other elements and all the other counts. Colson is mistaken. Her argument misapplies the law of the case doctrine and misapprehends the nature of accomplice liability. There was sufficient evidence that Colson knowingly participated in all the crimes of which she was convicted.

Colson cites State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 102, 954 P.2d 900 (1998), for the proposition that the law of the case doctrine provides that the State assumes the burden of proving any superfluous elements added to the “to-convict” instruction. However, Hickman, was recently overruled by the United States Supreme Court.

In Musacchio v. United States, ___ U.S. ___, 136 S. Ct. 709, 714, 193 L. Ed. 2d 639 (2016), the Court clarified that the law of the case doctrine has no application to “erroneously heightened jury instructions.” The Court held that “when a jury instruction sets forth all the elements of the charged crime but incorrectly adds one more element, a sufficiency challenge should be assessed against the elements of the charged crime, not against the erroneously heightened command in the jury instruction.” Id. at 715. The Court explained that the sufficiency inquiry does not rest on how the jury was instructed, but whether the jury made all the findings that due process requires. Id. If the jury has been instructed to find guilt based on all the elements of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt, then due process has been achieved. Id. “The Government’s failure to introduce evidence of an additional element

does not implicate the principles that sufficiency review protects.”

Id.

The Court also clarified that the law of the case doctrine has no application to the appellate court’s review of the sufficiency of the evidence. The Court explained that when a party fails to object below, appellate review can be constrained by other doctrines, such as waiver and forfeiture, but not by the law of the case doctrine. The law of the case doctrine describes an appellate court’s decision not to depart from a ruling that it made in a prior appeal in the same case; it does not affect the appellate court’s ability to review the lower court’s rulings. Id. The law of the case doctrine “does not bear on how to assess a sufficiency challenge.”

Id.

To the extent that Hickman holds otherwise, it is no longer good law. Hickman cited the law of the case doctrine as providing that “jury instructions not objected to become the law of the case,” meaning the State assumes the burden of providing unnecessary elements added to the “to-convict” instructions. 135 Wn.2d at 102. The rule cited in Hickman is not based on any independent state constitutional right, or a differing interpretation of the due process clause contained in the state constitution. The Washington due

process clause is coextensive with and does not provide greater protection than the federal due process clause. Nielsen v. Washington State Dept. of Licensing, 177 Wn. App. 45, 52 n.5, 309 P.3d 1221 (2013) (citing State v. Manussier, 129 Wn.2d 652, 679, 921 P.3d 473 (1996)).

Moreover, there were no superfluous elements added to the jury instructions in this case. The law of the case doctrine as stated in Hickman would not apply in this case because the “to convict” instruction for Count 7 did not add an unnecessary element by using the phrase “or an accomplice.” Accomplice liability is not an element of the crime charged, nor is it an alternative means of committing the crime. State v. Teal, 117 Wn. App. 831, 838, 73 P.3d 402 (2003). The same criminal liability attaches to everyone who knowingly participates in a crime. State v. Rodriguez, 78 Wn. App. 769, 772-73, 898 P.2d 871 (1995). “Any person who participates in the commission of the crime is guilty of the crime and is charged as a principal.” State v. Silva-Baltazar, 125 Wn.2d 472, 480, 886 P.2d 138 (1994). Accomplice liability need not be alleged in the charging document. Teal, 117 Wn. App. at 838. The jury need only be instructed as to the scope of accomplice liability, when applicable, with a separate instruction. Id. Accomplice

language need not be incorporated into the “to convict” instruction. Id. In Colson’s case, the jury received an accurate separate instruction explaining accomplice liability. CP 134.

The addition of “or an accomplice” in one of the “to convict” instructions did not alter the law of complicity in this case. There was ample proof that Colson knowingly participated, aided and profited from all the crimes charged, and was thus properly found guilty of each.

3. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF THE SINGLE MEANS OF COMMITTING POSSESSION OF STOLEN MAIL.

Colson contends that her conviction for possession of stolen mail must be reversed because there was no evidence of each alternative means presented to the jury. However, Colson acknowledges the flaw in her argument: the words “receive, retain, possess, conceal or dispose” in the statute are not separate alternative means. Brief of Appellant, at 32. Only one means of committing the crime was presented to the jury, and there was sufficient evidence of that means.

The crime of possession of stolen mail is defined in RCW 9A.56.380. The statute prohibits the possession of at least ten

separate pieces of stolen mail addressed to at least three different mailboxes. RCW 9A.56.380(a). The statute defines “possesses stolen mail” as “to knowingly receive, retain, possess, conceal or dispose of stolen mail knowing that it has been stolen.” RCW 9A.56.380(2). In this respect, the statute mirrors the statute defining possessing stolen property, RCW 9A.56.140. That statute defines possessing stolen property as “knowingly to receive, retain, possess, conceal or dispose of stolen property.” RCW 9A.56.140(1). This phrase is definitional and does not create alternative means of committing the crime. State v. Hayes, 164 Wn. App. 459, 477, 262 P.3d 538 (2011). See also State v. Makekau, ___ Wn. App. ___, ___ P.3d ___, 2016 WL 3188944 (2016) (holding that definition of possession in possession of a stolen motor vehicle statute does not create alternative means).

Whether a statute creates alternative means is a question of statutory interpretation. State v. Sandholm, 184 Wn.2d 726, 732, 364 P.3d 87 (2015). The legislature’s use of the disjunctive “or” does not in itself create alternative means. Id. at 733. Nor is the use of subsections dispositive. Id. The analysis should focus on whether each alleged alternative describes distinct acts or “minor nuances inhering in the same act.” Id. If the terms are closely

related with substantial overlap then they do not describe distinct means. State v. Owens, 180 Wn.2d 90, 98-99, 323 P.3d 1030 (2014). Applying this principle to the crime of possession of stolen mail, the terms receive, retain, possess, conceal or dispose are closely related with substantial overlap. It is hard to imagine receiving stolen mail without also retaining and possessing it, as well as concealing it from the owner and disposing of it in some manner. These terms are “minor nuances inhering the same act” and are definitional. They are not alternative means of committing the crime of possessing stolen mail.

If a statute creates alternative means of committing the crime, and two or more alternative means are presented to the jury, there must be substantial evidence of each alternative means to affirm the conviction. Owens, 180 Wn.2d at 95. “When there is sufficient evidence to support each alternative means of committing the crime, express jury unanimity as to which means is not required.” Id. If there is insufficient evidence to support one of the means presented to the jury, the conviction must be reversed for insufficient evidence unless there is an expression of jury unanimity as to supported means, because the jury might have based the verdict on the means unsupported by substantial evidence. Id.;

State v. Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d 702, 707-08, 881 P.2d 231 (1994); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 231-33, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). In contrast, if the statute does not create alternative means, then there is no requirement that the jury find each prong of a definition presented in the instructions. Sandholm, 184 Wn.2d at 732.

Colson's relies on State v. Lillard, 122 Wn. App. 422, 93 P.3d 969 (2004). In that case, this Court held that where a multi-faceted definition of an element is included in the "to-convict" instruction, all of the terms become alternative means that the State must prove. Lillard's conclusion is obviously flawed. First, it relies on the law of the case doctrine, which does not alter the State's burden of proof as explained above. Second, it confuses the meaning of the word of "element." In this case, the element in question is "possession." Possession is a single element. Possession does not become five elements by including the definition of the term in the jury instructions. Thus, including the definition in the instruction does not add superfluous elements. The State respectfully requests that this Court decline to follow Lillard's reasoning.

Indeed, the reasoning of Lillard has been implicitly rejected by the Washington Supreme Court. In State v. Sandholm, supra, the defendant was charged with DUI, and the issue on appeal was whether that crime has two or three alternative means. 184 Wn.2d at 729. The court held that the statute has two alternative means: (1) driving with a BAC over .08; and (2) driving while under the influence of or affected by liquor, drugs or the combined influence of liquor and any drug. Id. at 735. The jury in Sandholm was instructed as to only one of these two alternative means: that Sandholm was under the influence of alcohol or drugs or the combined influence of alcohol and drugs. Id. at 730. Sandholm argued that his conviction must be reversed because there was no evidence he was under the influence of a drug. Id. at 731. The supreme court disagreed, holding that because there was sufficient evidence that Sandholm drove under the influence of alcohol, his conviction was affirmed. Id. at 746. The definitional language pertaining to drugs did not become something the State had to prove under the so-called law of the case doctrine. The result in Sandholm demonstrates that there need not be evidence of every definitional term presented in the “to-convict” instruction.

In the present case, the jury was presented with a single means of committing the crime, not alternative means, and thus there is no sufficiency issue. There can be no question that the State presented substantial evidence that Colson knowingly received, retained, possessed and concealed at least ten items of stolen mail addressed to at least three different addresses. The conviction for possessing stolen mail, Count 4, should be affirmed.

4. THE VALIDITY OF THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE IS A MOOT QUESTION BECAUSE THE COURT DID NOT IMPOSE AN EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCE.

Colson argues that there was insufficient evidence to support the aggravating circumstance that was submitted to the jury as to Counts 5 through 10. This issue is moot because the sentencing court did not impose an exceptional sentence.

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